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Appeals from the United States District Court for the Northern
District of Alabama. (No. CV94-C-1386-S), U W d enon, Judge.

Before CARNES, Circuit Judge, and FAY and G BSON, Senior Circuit
Judges.

FAY, Senior Circuit Judge:

An enpl oyee of Bell South Tel econmuni cati ons ("BST") brought
suit agai nst the conpany to enforce the provisions of her sickness
and disability benefit plans. The District Court found that the
plaintiff was disabled under the ternms of the plan contracts, and
that the plan admnistrators had arbitrarily and capriciously
rejected her clains. W affirm

| . BACKGROUND

Carol Godfrey began working for Bell South in 1963. By 1990
she had earned several pronotions. However, in June of 1990 she
becane ill. Her fam |y doctor referred her to several specialists,
who di agnosed her with: fibronyalgia; a thirty degree angle of
pressure on the spine; | umbar di sc syndrone; rotator cuff

di sease; severe sciatic pain and sacral pain; chroni c dorsa
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| unmbar strain; and joint swelling pain. The District Court found
that the evidence conclusively proved that her pain was severe and
di sabl i ng.

Ms. Codfrey was treated with several very potent drugs which
she had to take on a daily basis, including: Lorcet Plus, a
narcotic pain nedication whose main side effect is drowsiness
Fl exeril, a mnuscle relaxer whose main side effect is drowsiness;
and Donnatal, an anti-col onurgi c nedi ci ne whose main side effect is
blurred vision. |In addition, she had to undergo regul ar physi cal
t her apy.

In June of 1990, when she first started to experience the
debilitating pain, Ms. Godfrey submtted a claimfor benefits under
BST's Sickness and Accident Disability (SAD) Plan. The District
Court found that she provided BST with nore than anpl e evi dence of
her disability, including physician's certificates from at | east
four doctors. Bell South's manager deni ed Si ckness Benefits and t he
review conmttees denied Ms. Godfrey's appeals.

In January of 1991, BST informed Ms. Godfrey that she would
have to return to work or be discharged. At that point, according
to the District Court:

[With a dependent son, the plaintiff had no real choice other

than to dope herself up with the nedications that had been

prescribed for her and get in the car, contrary to nedica
advice, drive herself to work, and then work whil e under the

i nfluence of a conbination of very potent drugs.

Despite the debilitating pain, Ms. Godfrey was physically able to
show up for work on a fairly regul ar basis. However, the D strict

Court found that on sone days she sinply could not get to work.

Because of her sickness, her attendance record was the worst of any



enpl oyee in the unit, and she was disciplined for her absences.
Because she returned to work, however, she did not becone eligible
for benefits under the Long-Term Disability Plan (LTD), which
requires the exhaustion of fifty-two weeks of disability benefits
under the sickness plan.

Ms. CGodfrey filed conplaints of discrimnation and harassnent
wi th BST in Novenber of 1991 and January of 1992. |In addition, she
filed grievances with the union. On January 20, 1993, all of her
conplaints were deni ed, except BST reduced one of her suspensions
by two days. She filed suit on May 5, 1994 in state court.

The case was renoved to federal court. Godfrey anmended her
conplaint to add a claim under ERI SA, the Enployee Retirenent
| ncome Security Act of 1974, 29 U. S.C. 88 1001-1461. The District
Court ruled that Godfrey was not entitled to extra-contractual or
puni tive damages under 29 U.S.C. 8§ 1132(a)(1)(B), 8§ 1132(a)(3), or
§ 1140. After a bench trial, the court found that CGodfrey was
di sabl ed under the terns of the sickness and disability benefit
plans from June of 1990 to Cctober 1, 1993. The court issued an
injunction ordering BST to conply with ERI SA and pay Godfrey
$58, 300.50 in benefits. BST appeal ed the judgnent. Godfr ey
cross-appeal ed the District Court's determ nation that she was not
entitled to extra-contractual or punitive damages.

1. STANDARD OF REVI EW
We review conclusions of law de novo but do not disturb
findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. See U S. .
Thomas, 62 F.3d 1332, 1336 (11th G r.1995), cert. denied, --- U S
----, 116 S.Ct. 1058, 134 L.Ed.2d 202 (1996). Equitable renedies



will not be disturbed unless the District Court abused its
di scretion or nade an error of law, or unless the findings of fact
are not supported by the evidence. See Planned Parenthood Ass' n of
Atlanta Area, Inc. v. Mller, 934 F.2d 1462, 1471 (11th G r.1991).
Were the administrator of an ERI SA benefits plan has
di scretionary authority to determne eligibility for benefits, a
court reviews that determ nati on under the arbitrary and caprici ous
standard. Brown v. Blue Cross and Bl ue Shield of Al abama, 898 F. 2d
1556, 1559 (11th Cr.1990). However, such a determ nation is not
entitled to as nmuch deference where the admnistrator has a
conflict of interest. 1Id. at 1566.
[A] wong but apparently reasonable interpretation is
arbitrary and capricious if it advances the conflicting
interest of the fiduciary at the expense of the affected
beneficiary or beneficiaries unless the fiduciary justifies
the interpretation on the ground of its benefit to the class
of all participants and beneficiaries.
ld. At 1566-67.

[T]he fiduciary's interpretation first nust be "wong"” from
t he perspective of a de novo review ...

Id. at 1566, n. 12.

[11. ANALYSI S
A. The District Court did not err when it found that CGodfrey was
deni ed benefits under the Sickness and Accident Disability Plan in
violation of ERI SA Sections 502(a)(1)(B) and (a)(3), 29 US.C 8
1132(a)(1)(B) and § 1132(a)(3).

Using the test outlined above, we reviewthe decisioninthis
case under the arbitrary and capricious standard. Brown, 898 F. 2d
at 1559. However, such a determination is not entitled to as nuch
deference if the adm nistrator had a conflict of interest. Brown,
898 F.2d at 1566. In such a case, we first conduct a de novo

reviewto decide if the determnation was wong. Id.



BST argues that there was no conflict of interest, even
t hough BST self-adm nistered the plan and paid benefits fromits
operating expenses. According to BST, it would have had to pay
Godfrey regardl ess of the determ nation by the plan adm nistrator;
either it would have paid Godfrey benefits or it would have paid
her wages. |In addition, according to BST, it did not save the cost
of a replacenment worker because it did not hire a replacenent
wor ker when Godfrey was out, and it m ght not have hired one if she
had been granted benefits. However, if BST granted benefits to
CGodfrey, it would have either had to hire a repl acenent worker or
| ose the services of an enployee in that position. The BST pl an
adm nistrators had a conflict of interest.

Because of this conflict of interest, BST s determ nation
could be arbitrary and capricious even if it was only "a wong but
apparently reasonable interpretation.™ Brown, 898 F.2d at 1566
The District Court found that the determ nation was i ndeed w ong,
and that Godfrey was di sabl ed under the terns of the ERI SA benefit
pl ans.

Ms. Godfrey sought benefits under two benefit plans. |[In order
to receive benefits under the first plan, the Sickness and Acci dent
Disability Plan, a participant nust fulfill five requirenents. The
only one that BST clained that CGodfrey did not neet was the
requi rement that the plan participant furnish satisfactory evi dence
of her disability. The plan did not specifically define
disability, but paid benefits when a participant was "tenporarily
di sabl ed fromwork by reason of sickness."

BST argues that this |anguage required Godfrey to show that



she had a | oss of function which would prevent her from doing her
job duties. Thus BST's Medical Director considered that M.
Godfrey was abl e to nove her extremties wi thout constraint despite
the fusion in her spine. The plan admnistrators testified that
they accepted the diagnoses of Godfrey's condition from her
doctors, but, as one of BST's nedical consultants stated, "pain
al one does not substantiate disability."

The plan is designed to pay benefits when a participant is
"di sabled fromwork by reason of sickness.” Nothing in the plan
requires BST's narrow interpretation of the |anguage. "Disabled
from wor k™ can nmean nore than physical paralysis or limted linb
nmovenent .

Dr. MlLain, one of Godfrey's treating physicians, testified
that fibronmyalgia can be severely disabling and can only be
di agnosed by an exam nation of the patient. The court found that
BST's physicians arbitrarily rejected the clear nedical evidence
she subm tted wi t hout even exam ni ng her thensel ves or seeking the
treatment notes of her doctors. Mreover, they ignored the effects
of the medication that Godfrey had to take on a daily basis due to
her conditi on.

It seems to the court that the only rational explanation for

the failure of the defendant's physicians to follow up on

evi dence which they did have and to ignore the effects of the
nmedi cations that the plaintiff was taking is that they knew
that in fact the plaintiff was di sabled and foll ow ng up | eads
and considering the effect of the nedications would only
confirmwhat any reasonabl e doctor woul d have al ready known.
Thus the court found that BST's wong determ nati on "advance[d] the

conflicting interest of the fiduciary at the expense of the

affected beneficiary." Brown, 898 F.2d at 1567. Because BST coul d



not justify its determnation "on the ground of its benefit to the
class of all participants,” id., the denial of benefits was
arbitrary and capricious and viol ated ERI SA Sections 502(a)(1)(B)
and (a)(3), 29 U S.C 8§ 1132(a)(1)(B) and (a)(3). The District
Court determned that from June 15, 1990 until January 21, 1991

Ms. Godfrey was di sabl ed and out of work and that she was entitled
to benefits under the SAD plan for that tine period. The record
fully supports this finding.

B. The District Court did not err when it found that BST viol at ed
Section 510 of ERISA, 29 U S.C. § 1140.

After BST arbitrarily and capriciously deni ed Godfrey benefits
under the sickness plan, BST required the disabled plaintiff to
return to work or lose her job. The District Court found that:

[With a dependent son, the plaintiff had no real choice other

than to dope herself up with the nedications that had been

prescribed for her and get in the car, contrary to nedica
advice, drive herself to work, and then work whil e under the

i nfluence of a conbination of very potent drugs.

Thus the court found that although Godfrey was di sabl ed under the
terms of the sickness plan, she was physically able to show up at
her place of enploynment. However, her attendance record was the
wor st of any enployee in her unit due to her disability, and she
was di sciplined for her absences. Because she returned to work in
January of 1991 and because thereafter she was suspended and
threatened with di scharge whenever she stayed honme, she |ost her
eligibility for benefits under the SAD plan and she did not becone
eligible for benefits under the Long-Term Di sability (LTD) Pl an.

Section 510 of ERI SA makes it:

unl awful for any person to discharge, fine, suspend, expel,

discipline, or discrimnate against a participant or
beneficiary for exercising any right to which he is entitled



under the provisions of an enpl oyee benefit plan, ... or for

t he purpose of interfering with the attai nment of any right to

whi ch such partici pant may becone entitled under the plan.
29 U.S.C. 8§ 1140.

O course an enployer may demand that an enpl oyee return to
work after determ ning that the enployee is not disabled, and then
di sci pli ne that enpl oyee for unexcused absences. The enpl oyer does
not vi ol ate ERI SA Section 510 just because a court | ater determ nes
that the enployer's good faith disability determ nati on was w ong.
However, ERISA Section 510 does prohibit an enployer from
threatening to fire a di sabl ed' enpl oyee in order for the enployer
to avoi d paying further benefits.

In this case, the District Court specifically found: that
BST threatened to discharge CGodfrey if she stayed hone and
di sci plined her when she did stay home, even though she had the
right to stay home under the benefit plans; that BST did so, at
least in part, in order to prevent Godfrey from becom ng eligible
for further benefits; and that fromJanuary 21, 1991 until October
1, 1993, CGodfrey was disabled and BST unlawfully acted to prevent
her from obtaining benefits under the SAD plan and from becom ng
eligible for benefits under the LTD plan. The record fully
supports these findings.

BST argues that Godfrey's clai munder Section 510 was barred

by the two year statute of linmitations.? BST threatened to

'Using the definition of disability in the relevant benefit
pl an.

*The applicable statute of limtations for this case is two
years. See Misick v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., 81 F.3d 136,
137 (11th G r. 1996).



di scharge CGodfrey in January of 1991 and she was suspended for
excessi ve absenteei smin 1991, but she did not bring suit until My
5, 1994. Codfrey counters, however, that she had to exhaust any
adm ni strative renedi es before she could bring suit, see Springer
v. Wal -Mart Associ ates' G oup Health Plan, 908 F.2d 897, 899 (11ith
Cir.1990), and so the statute of Iimtations did not begin to run
until she did so on January 20, 1993.

CGodfrey did file conplaints of discrimnation and harassnent
wi th BST in Novenber of 1991 and January of 1992. |In addition, she
filed grievances with the union. On January 20, 1993, all of her
conplaints were deni ed, except BST reduced one of her suspensions
by two days.

These administrative procedures were not specifically
provided for in the benefit plans, and BST argues on appeal that
Godfrey was not required to file an adm nistrative appeal in this
case. However, BST argued in its nmotion for summary judgnent
before the District Court that Godfrey had failed to exhaust her
adm nistrative renedies in regard to the Section 510 cl ai m because
her adm ni strative conplaint dealt only with the denial of benefits
and not with any retaliation. BST argued in the D strict Court
that Godfrey was required to seek adm nistrative renedi es before
she could file this suit. Accepting such a position, the fina
action here was on January 20, 1993, and the suit was filed well
within the statute of limtations. BST cannot raise for the first
time on appeal the argunment that CGodfrey did not have to conplain
admnistratively in this case, see FDIC v. Verex Assurance, Inc.

3 F.3d 391, 395 (11th G r.1993), and so we nust concl ude that BST' s



final action was on January 20, 1993. The suit was filed within
the statute of linmitations.?

C. The District Court did not err in refusing to set off
Godfrey's benefits award by the wages she received.

Al though the District Court found that CGodfrey was disabl ed,
she did return to work on January 21, 1991 and recei ved wages from
that point on. Those wages would normally prevent her from
recei ving benefits under the SAD plan or the LTD pl an, but because
BST violated Section 510 of ERISA the District Court could order
BST to pay benefits for that period. However, BST contends that
t hose benefits shoul d be offset by the wages that Godfrey was paid
by BST. Those wages exceed the amount of benefits that Godfrey
woul d have received, and so BST argues that even if it did violate
ERI SA Sections 502 and 510, Godfrey is entitled to no relief.

Normal Iy, of course, a disabled enployee will not collect
wages. In this case, however, the District Court found that M.
Godfrey was disabled under the ternms of the benefit plans, even
t hough she was able to physically show up for work and earn wages.
Under ERI SA Section 502(a)(3), 29 U S C. 8§ 1132(a)(3), the court
has the power to grant equitable relief to redress violations of
ERI SA or violations of the benefit plan. In this case, BST
arbitrarily and capriciously determned that GCodfrey was not
di sabl ed, and threatened to fire her if she did not cone back to
work. The District Court found that Godfrey had no real choice but

to return to work.

*\W& express no opinion on whether a participant in an ERI SA
pl an nust exhaust admi nistrative renmedi es available to her
t hrough her enpl oyer but not specified in the ERI SA plan itself.



Because of BST's arbitrary and capricious determnation,
Godfrey had to show up for work while disabled under the terns of
her benefit plan. BST s decision was not only wong, but arbitrary
and capricious. W cannot say that the District Court abused its
decision when, wunder the -equitable power of ER SA Section
502(a)(3), it refused to offset the benefits award by the anpunt
Godfrey received in wages. BST was wong, and the court did not
have to give it credit for being wong. |If the benefits award was
offset by her wages, then BST (and other conpanies that
sel f-adm nister their ERI SA plans) would have an incentive to do
the same thing in the future: if the enployer could threaten or
caj ol e a di sabl ed® enpl oyee into returning to work, it could obtain
the rewards of having an enployee in that position w thout hiring
a replacenent and w thout paying anything in benefits.?

D. The District Court did not err in holding that conpensatory
and punitive damages are not avail abl e under ERI SA Sections 502 or
510, 29 U.S.C. § 1132 or § 1140.

I n Bi shop v. Gsborn Transportation, Inc., 838 F.2d 1173 (11th
Cr.), cert. denied, 488 U S. 832, 109 S.C. 90, 102 L.Ed.2d 66
(1988), this Court held that ER SA Sections 502(a)(1)(B)
502(a)(3), and 510, 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(1)(B), & 1132(a)(3), or 8§
1140, do not provide for extra-contractual or punitive damages. As

this Court later noted in McRae v. Seafarers' Wl fare Plan, 920

*Using the definition of disability in the relevant benefit
pl an.

W& do not suggest that an enployer or the adm nistrator of
an ERI SA pl an should not nmake an informed decision concerning the
ability of an enployee to work. However, if such a decision is
thereafter found to be arbitrary and capricious (wong) there may
wel | be financial consequences.



F.2d 819, 821 (11th Cr.1991), the holding in Bishop was not
affected by Ingersoll-Rand Co. v. M endon, 498 U.S. 133, 111
S.C. 478, 112 L.Ed.2d 474 (1990). The District Court did not err
in hol ding that extra-contractual damages are not availableinthis
case; a plan beneficiary can sue to enforce her rights under the
plan and under ERISA, and for equitable relief, but not for
punitive or conpensatory danages.
| V. CONCLUSI ON

We concl ude that the District Court applied the correct rules
of law and the appropriate standards when it found that BST
vi ol ated ERI SA Sections 502 and 510, when it refused to offset the
benefits award, and when it denied Godfrey extra-contractual

damages. The judgnent is AFFI RMVED



